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15th-century
battlement

gargoyle

The Tower

This drawing shows the west face of the tower.
In the upper stage are two blocked-in windows
dating from late Saxon times. These indicate

that more or less the whole of the tower is early J o

in date. Below these is the slightly later two-
light window set within a recessed arch, which
is of Norman workmanship. The window above
and the battlements are of 15th-century date. 15th-

A similar sequence can be made out on all four century
faces of the tower. Nobody knows what the T ) window
top of the tower originally looked like but it may
have once had a pyramidal timber roof, possibly
destroyed by fire. Traces of burning have
recently been found at the top of the tower.

late Saxon
windows

The lower part of the tower is shown as viewed Norman
from inside the nave. Notice the large quoins window
or cornerstones that represent the sides of the
tower. It is likely that the nave was originally quoins
the same width as the tower but was widened exterior

at an early date. A late Saxon window can be
seen above the crossing arch. It may once
~ = .
% = s Ia‘te Saxon
- window

have been an exterior window, but now looks
out into the nave from a chamber above the
crossing.

Three of the four medieval
gargoyles at the top of the
tower were so badly worn by
the wind and rain they had to
be taken down in 1990.
Replacements were expertly
carved by stonemason
Gwynn Watkins, working
from surviving detail and
other medieval carvings.

-

crossing
arch

interior
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The South Transept

late Saxon
window

blocked Norman
window and

medieval
paintings

blocked 16th-
century door
and platform
of former
staircase

Detail of the medieval wall painting

The South Transept

Major discoveries were made during restoratior
of the south transept in 1959. On removal o
plaster, a pair of late Saxon round-headed
windows were found facing each other in the
east and west walls. These may have been
placed so high up to prevent draughts, with only
a sheet of thinly stretched hide keeping out the
weather. The peck-marks of axes used to
shape the stones are still visible. One of these
windows had been blocked up in Norman times
when a much larger splayed window was
inserted below. This in turn was partially
blocked up in the 14th century when the chancel
was enlarged.

Medieval Wall Paintings

These murals were painted inside the Norman
window when it was partially blocked in during
the 14th century. Clearly visible are the towers
and rooftops of a walled city — perhaps the holy
city of Jerusalem. When first uncovered, there
were faint traces of a head worked in red, with
black flames emanating from it. All traces of
such a head have now disappeared. Some
believe that an upside-down foot of a figure
falling from the buildings is depicted, and that
the painting as a whole illustrates the biblical
story of Jezebel. Others claim to be able to
see a knight on horseback riding through the
gate of the city. Whatever the correct
interpretation, the painting reminds us of how
colourful the church interior must once have
been. Most of the walls would have been
painted with pictures of saints or biblical scenes.
There would also have been rich embroideries
and other hangings. These were all largely
destroyed or stolen during the Reformation in
the 16th century.
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WITHIN THE
CHURCHYARD
WALLS

The east end of St Mary’s churchyard in spring

The churchyard is one of the oldest spaces in Bedford, and
probably one of the most crowded. If there were on average
about ten burials a year, there would be about 10,000 people
buried here. Many of the older gravestones have sunk into
the ground. Such is the weight of a large slab that it tends to
sink by up to half a centimetre a year, so that after several
hundred years it may disappear below ground completely.
Other stones were re-used as pew bases. A gravestone survey
carried out in 1977 showed that nearly all of the gravestones
and monuments visible today are 19th century, with a few 18th-
century examples.

Above and left: details
from gravestones
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Some of the earliest entries in the Parish
Registers record the burial of nuns from Elstow
Abbey in the 1540s and 1550s. They moved
into the Potter Street district when the Abbey
was dissolved by Henry VIIl. One of them was
Elizabeth Boyvill, the last Abbess. She was
buried here in 1550.

Fragments of 18th-century gravestones or
coffin lids, with carved designs, can be seen
built into the southern outer wall of the chancel
at about eye level. These may be part of the
blocking of an old priest's door, of which little
other trace remains.

The churchyard today is a haven for wildlife in
a busy part of town. It has its own resident
squirrels. Blackbirds, thrushes, sparrows,
wrens, finches, robins, nuthatches and blue tits
are commonly seen here, along with the
occasional woodpecker. Trees include yews,
limes, hollies, box, lilac and maples.

Top to bottom: fragments of coffin lids built
into the church wall

The grave of Mary Bloomfield, wife of local
poet Robert Bloomfield

Studying gravestones is a good way for
children to learn about the past

Benedictine nuns from
Elstow Abbey

Above: details from
gravestones
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THE CHURCH TODAY:
ST MARY'S ARCHAEOLOGY CENTRE

A New Use for St Mary’s

The last service at St Mary’s was held in 1975 and
the church became redundant for the next 15 years.
The question of what was to be done with the historic
building became an important issue. Demolition was
considered. Wholesale removal of the church to a
new site in north Brickhill, where it would be
reconstructed stone by stone, was one of the
suggestions put forward! Fortunately, the Grade |
listing of the building ensured it went to the care of
the Redundant Churches Fund. Repairs were carried
out, and eventually a new use was found.

The Bedfordshire County Archaeology Service,
founded in 1972, had outgrown its old base in Castle
Lane and was looking for new headquarters. Making
use of the church made sense in two ways. It not
only provided the space needed for the successful
running of a busy archaeological unit, it also ensured
the survival of one of Bedfordshire’s finest
archaeological treasures — the church building itself.
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Top: Open Day at St. Mary’s
Above: washing finds in the lab
Left: at work in the office
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Examining
environmental samples
under the microscope

Kempston, Beds.

Albion Archaeology

The new Archaeology Centre was opened by Lord Montagu of
Beaulieu in 1991.

Over the years, important excavations have been carried out in the
county: the deserted medieval village of Stratton, near Biggleswade;
the prehistoric farmsteads of the Biddenham loop; the Romano-British
and Saxon settlements of Oakley Road in Clapham; the small Roman
town of Sandy, and many other sites of all periods. The service has
gone from strength to strength, extending its area of operation into
the wider region. In the year 2000 its name was changed to Albion
Archaeology to reflect this expansion.

As well as providing a professional service to developers and
architects, staff at Albion are committed to informing the local
community about the archaeology of the area. A small exhibition is
on permanent display in the west end of St Mary’s Church. We also
have open days on site, run courses, give talks to groups and visit
local schools.

Left: recording a section at Marsh Leys Farm near

Below: Albion Archaeology publications; an
archaeologist gives schoolchildren a ‘hands on’
experience

Computers are essential
for processing the large
amount of data from sites
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A graveyard survey was carried out in 1977. This shows positions of all
surviving graves and their inscriptions, where legible. Copies are kept
by Albion Archaeology and the Bedfordshire and Luton Archive and
Record Service (BLARS).

The 11 volumes of parish registers dating from 1539-1812 are now looked
after by BLARS, who provide a useful transcription (see Bedfordshire
Parish Registers 1947, XXXV). Later volumes are also kept there.

In the same record office are parish scrapbooks put together by the
churchwarden, Mr D. Bungay, from 1935 to 1945. These provide a vivid
picture of church and parish life throughout the war years.
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Contact Information

Albion Archaeology
St Mary’s Church
St Mary’s Street
Bedford, MK42 0AS

Tel: 01234 294000

Fax: 01234 294008

e-mail: office @albion-arch.com

Website: www.albion-arch.com

There is a small exhibition depicting recent archaeological work, at the
west end of the church.

Opening times are 10-12am and 2-4pm, Monday — Friday.

Cover pictures:
Front: the Virgin Mary
window, south wall of
chancel

Back: the blocked Saxon
and Norman windows, with
medieval wall paintings,
east wall of south transept
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INTRODUCTION

St Mary’s Church is one of the oldest and most beautiful buildings in
Bedford. Situated on an ancient crossroads, its tower has been a major
landmark to travellers for at least a thousand years. There was a church
on the site before Bedford Castle was built - before even the Norman
Conquest in 1066. Some people think that it was founded by King Alfred’s
son, Edward the Elder, at a time when Bedford was a key stronghold in
the wars against the Vikings. For about fifty generations of Bedford’s
townsfolk it was the centre of community life, and many of the town’s
inhabitants were baptised, married or buried here. Today it is no longer
a parish church, but serves instead as the headquarters of Albion
Archaeology — one of the leading archaeology units in the country.
The stones may not be able to reveal all their secrets, but they can give
us important clues about the history of the building and the characters
associated with it. This booklet puts together some of the fragments
from the past to tell the story of St Mary’s Church.
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CHURCH AND
TOWN

Aerial photograph showing St
Mary’s Church at the
crossroads, bottom of picture
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“Ring Eoward went with
his troops to Bedanforda
before Martinmass, got
possession of the borough,
and most of the town
dwellers who had been living
there turned to him. He
stayed there four weeks, and
commanded the borough to
be built on the south side of
the river before he went
from there.”
(The Anglo-Saxon Chronicles,
entry for year 915 AD)

The mouth of the King’s Ditch

A Royal Foundation?

The origin of St Mary’s Church is tied in with that
of the ancient earthwork known as the King’s Ditch.
Eleven hundred years ago, the settlement of
Bedanforda was situated on the north side of the river. It had been
captured by Danish forces and was on the frontier dividing the
lands of the Danes and the Saxons. In 915 AD, however, the
town was captured by King Edward the Elder in his great re-
conquest of England. The King constructed a broad ditch and
rampart round what was to become the southern part of the town.
St Mary’s Church was probably founded at this time - right in the
middle of the area enclosed by the ditch.

The earliest historical reference to St Mary’s is in the 13th century,
but this is a copy of a document originally written in the late 11th
century. Itis a charter of William II, confirming an endowment of
“the Church of St Mary in Bedefort, and a hide of land, and a mill
with its appurtenances...” to Lincoln Cathedral. The mill referred
to is almost certainly Duck Mill, or Joel’s Mill as it was then called.
On John Speed’s map, you can see the lane that used to lead
from St Mary’s to Duck Mill.

There are early references to a St Mary’s Hospital, which may
have been attached to the church. Another medieval document
records that in 1185 a hermit took up residence in St Mary’s
Church. For his maintenance King Henry Il made a grant of a
penny a day. The hermit probably spent all his time in a single
room or cell, with food passed to him under the door.

The hermit
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